# **Real-Time** Water Quality **Monitoring:**

Benefits for decision making

**IISD-ELA REPORT** 







Thomas Saleh Madeline Stanley



© 2023 International Institute for Sustainable Development Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development This publication is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution-</u><u>NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International License</u>.

#### International Institute for Sustainable Development

The International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) is an award-winning independent think tank working to accelerate solutions for a stable climate, sustainable resource management, and fair economies. Our work inspires better decisions and sparks meaningful action to help people and the planet thrive. We shine a light on what can be achieved when governments, businesses, non-profits, and communities come together. IISD's staff of more than 200 people, plus over 150 associates and consultants, come from across the globe and from many disciplines. With offices in Winnipeg, Geneva, Ottawa, and Toronto, our work affects lives in nearly 100 countries.

IISD is a registered charitable organization in Canada and has 501(c)(3) status in the United States. IISD receives core operating support from the Province of Manitoba and project funding from governments inside and outside Canada, United Nations agencies, foundations, the private sector, and individuals.

#### **IISD Experimental Lakes Area (IISD-ELA)**

IISD Experimental Lakes Area (IISD-ELA) is one of the world's most influential freshwater research facilities. It features a collection of 58 small lakes and their watersheds in northwestern Ontario, Canada. For over 50 years, scientists at IISD-ELA have conducted whole-ecosystem experiments and made significant scientific discoveries related to issues such as acid rain, mercury from air pollution, algal blooms, and pharmaceutical chemicals in water. The facility is operated by the International Institute for Sustainable Development—an independent think tank headquartered in Winnipeg on Treaty 1 territory, the traditional land of Anishinaabeg, Cree, Ojibwe-Cree, Dakota, and Dene Peoples, and homeland of the Métis Nation.

IISD-ELA acknowledges that its research facility is located on Treaty 3 lands, and the care of these lands during experimentation and restoration to their original state is implicit in its mission. Many regional schools come to the facility to learn more about the science of aquatic ecosystems and how humans have a role in sharing and working with one another to protect these resources.

#### Real-Time Water Quality Monitoring: Benefits for decision making

June 2023 Written by Thomas Saleh and Madeline Stanley

#### Head Office

111 Lombard Avenue, Suite 325 Winnipeg, Manitoba Canada R3B 0T4

Tel: +1 (204) 958-7700 Website: iisd.org Twitter: @IISD\_news

Tel: +1 (204) 958-7700 ext. 735 Website: www.iisd.org/ela Twitter: @IISD\_ELA



# Acknowledgments

The Adaptive Monitoring on the Winnipeg River Project is a joint initiative between the International Institute for Sustainable Development's Experimental Lakes Area (IISD-ELA) and Aquatic Life Ltd (Aquatic Life<sup>®</sup>). This report describes work (both planned and completed) that would not be possible without the hard work of many individuals at Aquatic Life<sup>®</sup>, IISD-ELA, and third-party partners. We especially recognize the intellectual and material contributions of Connor Riach, Jeff Simpson, and Steven Simpson at Aquatic Life<sup>®</sup>, as well as our colleagues at IISD, Pauline Gerrard and Joey Simoes, over the course of this multi-year project. Thank you to the project team listed above, as well as to Dimple Roy and Scott Higgins at IISD, for reviewing this report before publication. We would also like to thank Geoffrey Gunn for their contributions to the development of the Adaptive Monitoring project. Lastly, this report and project would not have been possible without funding from RBC Tech for Nature<sup>TM</sup>.

The case studies described in this report were conducted in Treaty 1 and Treaty 3 territories. Treaty 1 is the traditional lands of the Anishinaabeg, Cree, Ojibwe-Cree, Dakota, and Dene Peoples and the homeland of the Métis Nation. Treaty 3 is the traditional land of the Anishinaabe Nation and the homeland of the Métis Nation. We are grateful to the land and its custodians and hope that our work supports care and stewardship for lands and waters here and abroad.



# **Executive Summary**

Due to worsening threats from climate change, pollution, and habitat fragmentation, there is an urgent need for data on watersheds to make effective decisions to protect their health. Water quality monitoring programs across Canada, which are seeking to meet this data need, have access to an expanding array of tools and technologies. In particular, automated systems for highfrequency and networked water quality monitoring have the potential to enhance data-driven decision making by offering larger volumes of data in near real time. However, these systems also come with their own sets of limitations and can introduce new technical, financial, and labour requirements. To deepen our understanding of these potential opportunities and limitations, the International Institute for Sustainable Development's Experimental Lakes Area and Aquatic Life Ltd. are exploring the use of networked systems to enable remote, real-time water quality monitoring in the Winnipeg River basin as part of the Adaptive Monitoring project. Drawing on a review of supporting literature and two case studies from our work in the Winnipeg River basin, this report explores the potential benefits and costs of introducing automated sensor systems to a monitoring initiative, with a particular focus on networked instruments producing real-time data.



# **Table of Contents**

1.0 Introduction	1
2.0 Water Monitoring	3
2.1 Data to Decisions: Decision making and management	3
2.2 High-Frequency, Real-Time Monitoring	5
3.0 Real-Time Monitoring in Practice	9
3.1 Deployment at Powerview: Pine Falls Drinking Water Treatment Facility, Manitoba	9
3.2 Deployment on Lake 227, IISD-ELA	10
4.0 Moving Monitoring Forward	13
References	14



### List of Figures

Figure 1. AquaHive and sensor installation on Lake 227 at the IISD-ELA in 2020	11
Figure 2. Chlorophyll-a concentration recorded at 1 metre from the water surface	12

### **List of Tables**

Table 1. Potential benefits and limitations of real-time monitoring	8
---	---



### **1.0 Introduction**

Canada holds 20% of the world's fresh water, and yet we have limited knowledge on the health of—and risks to—these freshwater ecosystems, despite federal, provincial, industry, and community-based monitoring efforts. For example, World Wildlife Fund Canada noted that 100 of 167 sub-watersheds in Canada lacked sufficient data to assess the overall health<sup>1</sup> of these ecosystems (Paquette et al., 2020). Such limitations are especially concerning in the face of pollution, climate change, and other threats, which are increasingly putting freshwater ecosystems, their surrounding communities, and biota at risk (McCandless, 2017; Paquette et al., 2020) and limiting our collective capacity for responsible freshwater decision making. In other words, "without accurate, intensive and long-term data acquisition, the state of the world's water resources cannot be adequately assessed, effective preservation and remediation programs cannot be run, and program success cannot be properly evaluated" (Glasgow et al., 2004, p. 2). One of the top objectives identified through public and stakeholder consultations for the creation of the Canada Water Agency was that "data and information are available to support informed decision-making at all levels" (Environment and Climate Change Canada [ECCC], 2021b, p. 8). Advances in monitoring technologies will play a critical role in meeting this objective as innovations in networked electronic sensor systems allow organizations to transmit data from the environment back to our computers and make sense of it in real time (Environment and Climate Change, n.d.; Gunn & Stanley, 2018).

"Until we have a coordinated approach, including a standardized, widespread and consistent national monitoring system, we will be unable to make the evidence-based decisions that our watersheds, and the wildlife and people who depend on them, need."

#### -PAQUETTE ET AL., 2020, P. 6

As part of the Adaptive Monitoring Project, IISD-ELA and Aquatic Life<sup>®</sup> are exploring the use of near real-time, higher-frequency data collected from networked sensors to monitor freshwater systems and fill knowledge gaps in the Winnipeg River basin. This project builds on a Discussion Sheet Series<sup>2</sup> that highlighted ecological and socio-economic characteristics of the lower Winnipeg River basin. In the series, it was noted that data limitations, caused by differing water quality sampling methods and frequencies between monitoring programs and over time, constrained the analysis and interpretation of conditions between sites on the river (Stanley et al., 2021). The data available was also insufficient to identify the specific sources of nutrients and other contaminants in the watershed (Stanley et al., 2021). The following sections explore some of the benefits and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> WWF Canada Health Indicators: hydrology, water quality, benthic invertebrates, and fish (Paquette et al., 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See <u>https://www.iisd.org/projects/lower-winnipeg-river-basin-opportunity-improve-health-our-waters</u>



requirements of introducing real-time systems into a monitoring program for effective decision making. The latter portion of this report presents two specific examples of networked sensor deployments in the Winnipeg River watershed that highlight the value of real-time data and alerts for industrial and community decision making, rapid response, and environmental research.



# 2.0 Water Monitoring

Water quality and quantity monitoring is undertaken by various non-governmental organizations and federal, provincial, Indigenous, industry, and local community groups, which each focus on different priority areas. These areas can include flooding, droughts, drinking water, pollution, and aquatic invasive species, among others (ECCC, 2021b). In some cases, monitoring is driven by regulations, such as provincial standards and guidelines for drinking water quality (ECCC, 2021a) or the federal Fisheries Act (RSC 1985, c. F-14). It can also be motivated by economic activities, such as fisheries, farming, or parks and recreation (Puzyreva et al., 2021). The program objectives are what determine how water quality is defined, which parameters are measured, how frequently, and at which locations (Behmel et al., 2016; Stantec Consulting Ltd., 2005). These different aspects are also weighed against one another to optimize the quality of the data collected within the program's resource constraints—such as budget, availability of experienced personnel, or travel logistics (Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment [CCME], 2015). Priorities may also shift over time, since "existing monitoring programs may have been established many vears ago and may need to evolve to respond to new information requirements and funding pressures" (CCME, 2015, p. 1). These changes can include budget constraints, climatic changes, or new pollutants, among others.

While each monitoring program should be optimized to meet its own objectives, monitoring groups may find value in communicating with others to discuss sampling methods and practices. When sites are managed by different organizations (e.g., across different governments, industries, and community groups), sampling frequency or methods may vary (Behmel et al., 2016). This presents a barrier to those seeking to combine and analyze different datasets. Communication between monitoring groups is encouraged to ensure that the data collected is compatible across programs and to maximize the value of the combined dataset for a wider audience of watershed stewards (Stanley et al., 2021). In particular, if it is to meaningfully impact ecosystem and community health in a watershed, water quality information needs to be translated into management decisions.

### 2.1 Data to Decisions: Decision making and management

Communities, public officials, and industry sometimes rely on water monitoring data to inform their decisions and policies concerning activities undertaken in associated watersheds. For example, authorities may use monitoring programs to assess, locate, and mitigate sources of pollution from pesticides or other contaminants (Campanale et al., 2021). When designing land-use policies and zoning bylaws, local governments will often take water quality data, such as nutrient loads and turbidity, into consideration (Manitoba Water Stewardship [MWS], 2010b, 2014). Water quality and quantity can also be measured by industrial and non-governmental users with an eye to informing water treatment requirements (Knick International, n.d.; Staben et al., 2015), infrastructure needs assessments (Borden & Roy, 2015), conservation measures (McCarty



et al., 2008), fishing (SOLitude Lake Management, n.d.), and irrigation practices (Gunn & Stanley, 2018; MWS, 2010b). In other words, monitoring programs are designed to meet certain objectives, and the specifics of each program (e.g., parameters, site location, and frequency) vary accordingly.

In an example drawn from the Whitemud River watershed in Manitoba, residents chose to prioritize ecosystem services, as well as water quality and quantity for agriculture. For this reason, indicators related to ecosystem health (e.g., dissolved oxygen, total phosphorus) and irrigation (e.g., herbicide concentrations) figured prominently in the watershed's water quality monitoring program (MWS, 2010b). In this case, water management focused on factors related to land use, such as nutrient loading and soil erosion. The information collected therefore allowed watershed managers and inhabitants to identify early signs of issues related to nutrient loading and fecal contaminants and to consider potential best practices for mitigating these issues (MWS, 2010a, 2010b).

Once the objectives of a monitoring program have been decided on, numerous factors can impact the effectiveness of the program in meeting those objectives. Many of these factors relate to the suitability of the program design. These factors include but are not limited to parameter selection, site selection, sampling or observation schedule, etc. Program design can also extend to include adaptability—allowing for changes according to unanticipated circumstances or discoveries while maintaining the coherence of the dataset (Lindenmayer et al., 2011). Other considerations include the type and quality of the instruments used, institutional knowledge and the availability of technical specialists, and access to resources, such as external labs or pre-existing data for the aquatic system (Bartram, 1996; Behmel et al., 2016; Mäkelä & Meybeck, 1996). Further, the spatial and temporal resolution of data collection is essential to determining whether the data collected will be sufficient to describe the systems of interest (CCME, 2015; Chen et al., 2012). These are just a few of the factors that shape the accuracy, reliability, and suitability of a monitoring program to meet its objectives.

Having designed and launched a monitoring program, the effectiveness of the program in informing decision-makers depends on data management practices to ensure the quality and continued availability of the resulting datasets (Behmel et al., 2016; Borden & Roy, 2015). In particular, good data quality is achieved when the data are controlled for errors, when they are easily accessible (e.g., by removing technical barriers and implementing open data principles), and when methods are standardized and well documented for users. As science and technology progress, methods may change and improve, altering comparison and interpretation between years. Clear documentation and metadata, along with robust industry standards, are essential to properly account for these changes and to develop trustworthy, transparent, and usable datasets for all stakeholders (Bartram, 1996; Borden & Roy, 2015; Cyr-Gagnon & Rodriguez, 2018). In addition, data governance and data structure may also impact a monitoring program's performance (Cyr-Gagnon & Rodriguez, 2018). For instance, security measures might be adopted to ensure that the data is protected from loss or unwanted access (Salam, 2019). While



the following sections will focus on the use of real-time monitoring systems, these systems are most valuable when they are deployed in the service of a well-designed program with clearly defined objectives and sound data management practices.

### 2.2 High-Frequency, Real-Time Monitoring

Although the effectiveness of a monitoring program cannot be reduced to any single factor, there are some significant aspects of water quality monitoring that can be dramatically improved with the deployment of two noteworthy technologies. First in-situ data loggers are designed to collect the observations of numerous parameters at a single location with a high frequency, thereby improving the **temporal resolution** and volume of data available, especially at remote sites. This temporal resolution can be crucial to tracing, modelling, or even forecasting the behaviour of a water body, since water quality can vary in a matter of minutes (e.g., in the case of a river) (Clark et al., 2001). This can also be important when identifying the extent, timing, and even the source of a contamination event. Indeed, for decision-makers, it is often useful to know with some specificity when and where a particular event of interest has occurred. Secondly, some in-situ systems can be equipped with a transceiver to transmit and receive data via a cellular or satellite network, allowing for the **timely delivery** of data to researchers or decision-makers, which can be critical to effective action. If decision-makers are to respond to an active water quality issue, such as a chemical spill or a harmful algal bloom, they need rapid access to recent and relevant water quality data (Glasgow et al., 2004). In these emergency situations, the delays associated with field collection (e.g., steps for sample collection, analysis, interpretation, and communication) or even non-networked automated systems may not allow for a timely response to contain and mitigate the environmental impacts. Networked monitoring systems are designed to overcome this delay between data collection and decision making by offering data transmissions in near real time.

One of the greatest benefits of networked in-situ monitoring systems is the opportunity to provide alerts or notifications. Decision-makers can be notified almost immediately when any water quality issues are identified, allowing rapid response. Real-time systems might be installed around known wastewater outflow sites to alert water regulators of potential contamination events (Carducci et al., 2020; Mosley & Hipsey, 2012). Alert systems can also be used to monitor a highly valuable water body, ensuring water quality for community health and safety or for meeting industrial standards (Gunn & Stanley, 2018).

#### 2.2.1 Benefits

Alert systems are only one of the potential applications of these high-frequency data collection and near-real-time networking technologies. Indeed, there are many possible ways in which networked in-situ systems can enhance a monitoring program, some of which are listed below.



- More data at a lower cost
  - While sensor equipment has upfront purchase and installation costs, the cost per measurement quickly diminishes over time (Adu-Manu et al., 2017; Burke & Allenby, n.d.; Lambrou et al., 2014).
  - While not a replacement, automated sensor networks reduce costs associated with resources and personnel time for travel, collection, and analysis (Adu-Manu et al., 2017; Burke & Allenby, n.d.; Lambrou et al., 2014).
  - Frequent data collection can be achieved, even in relatively inaccessible sites (Adu-Manu et al., 2017).
- Fewer knowledge barriers
  - Data can be integrated into an approachable user interface (known as Model Interfacing) (Benedetti et al., 2013).
  - Immediate visualization can support interpretation without the need for statistical or visualization skills (Glasgow et al., 2004).
  - Automated data collection reduces the need for specific, on-site technical expertise (Adu-Manu et al., 2017).
- Rapid response
  - With real-time data, decision-makers can become aware of issues in time to respond to them (Lambrou et al., 2014; Tango et al., 2019).
  - Automated alert systems can be used at high-risk sites to notify decision-makers of potentially unsafe conditions or sudden changes in water quality (Glasgow et al., 2004; Gunn & Stanley, 2018).
  - Frequent data collection and timely access allow changes in water quality to be studied shortly after a major event occurs (Rode et al., 2016).
- Adaptive monitoring
  - Fast access to high-resolution data enables watershed monitoring programs to adapt their monitoring strategy to the observed behaviour of the system, thereby maximizing the significance and impact of the data collected (Chen et al., 2012; Mosley & Hipsey, 2012; Wigmosta & Burges, 1997).
  - Management of the monitoring network is required to be systematic, allowing for more efficient and adaptive monitoring (Chen et al., 2012).

#### 2.2.2 Limitations

The benefits of real-time monitoring are numerous, and they tend to be greater as the volume of data desired increases. At the same time, real-time monitoring is not a stand-alone solution,



since the **range of observable parameters is limited** to those that can be measured with deployable electronic sensors. Additionally, real-time monitoring can present **technical barriers**, such as identifying and correcting for sensor issues, programming data transmission, automating management and quality control on large datasets, and more advanced modelling and visualization software requirements, which may not apply to the same extent under conventional monitoring approaches. To be clear, real-time monitoring systems come with a new set of requirements and limitations, which may add to the logistical cost and complexity of a monitoring program. Below are some examples of such requirements and potential limitations of in-situ, real-time monitoring systems.

- Sensor maintenance costs
  - Automated sensors are susceptible to drift and physical disturbances (such as damage and biofouling) when deployed for extended periods (Adu-Manu et al., 2017).
  - Regular supervision of the data, as well as periodic inspection and maintenance of the deployed equipment, is typically required.
- Networking costs and risks
  - Networking fees can be significant, depending on the service used and the volume and frequency of data transmissions (Borden & Roy, 2015).
  - Internet data transfers may require specialized knowledge of cybersecurity practices to ensure data is not lost (Adu-Manu et al., 2017).
- Data storage and management
  - Large volumes of data require the technical capacity for data storage and quality control, which may extend beyond the technical capacity of the pre-existing monitoring program (Adu-Manu et al., 2017; Rode et al., 2016).
  - Processing and storing large volumes of data may also require the purchase or extension of data storage and processing systems (Adu-Manu et al., 2017; Borden & Roy, 2015; Rode et al., 2016).
- Technological limitations
  - While sensor technologies are continuously improving, they are constrained to a subset of measurable parameters (e.g., temperature, pH, conductivity, dissolved oxygen, turbidity) (Adu-Manu et al., 2017). Many other parameters are only observable through manual sampling.
  - In-person site visits can provide insight into possible events or conditions that might influence the interpretation of data collected. In comparison, automated systems offer far less contextual information.



To summarize, while networked sensors can significantly improve the amount and range of data available, they also present several constraints that may not exist with conventional monitoring. Significant investments and foresight are required to ensure that the data produced is useful and valid (the common modelling refrain, "garbage in – garbage out," remains as applicable to sensor networks as to any other data source). As such, even though networked systems can sometimes replace manual sampling entirely, real-time monitoring is perhaps more often coupled with more conventional approaches.

These limitations notwithstanding, the timeliness of networked monitoring systems opens new possibilities for monitoring programs and is rapidly being adopted by many organizations. It provides information like "alerts" in near real-time for decision making, along with immediate insight into the dynamics of freshwater systems. These benefits do not imply that it is the optimal solution for all monitoring objectives or that it would generally supplant more conventional monitoring, only that it may present a significant improvement for some. On the one hand, if a monitoring program involves frequent and repeated on-site measurements of a select range of parameters, the timeliness of data is important, and the financial and data management capacity of the institution exceeds its scientific capacity, such a program may opt to widely deploy networked instrumentation. On the other hand, in cases for which the scale and resolution of the data required are minimal, the water body is readily accessible, and financial resources or technological expertise are limited, conventional approaches may still be preferred. In general, the potential benefits and requirements, including but not limited to those presented in this report, should be weighed in the unique context of each program.

Benefits	Limitations
More data at a lower cost Once equipment is purchased and installed, the cost per observation is small relative to conventional sampling methods.	<b>Sensor maintenance costs</b> Automated systems are susceptible to drift and errors resulting in maintenance and supervision costs.
Fewer knowledge barriers Data analyses and visualizations can be automated and optimized for decision making.	<b>Networking costs and risks</b> Data transmission fees can be costly, and security measures may be required.
<b>Rapid response</b> Data is available to decision-makers and researchers shortly after an event.	Data storage and management Large volumes of data may require additional computing power, data storage, and technical expertise.
Adaptive monitoring Systematic and rapid data collection allows for more responsive monitoring practices.	<b>Technological limitations</b> Not all parameters and relevant information are available through remote observation.

Table 1. Potential benefits and limitations of real-time monitoring



# 3.0 Real-Time Monitoring in Practice

As discussed, integrated real-time sensors can alert decision-makers, communities, and industrial operators as soon as issues occur. This can be particularly beneficial when the health of the community relies on trustworthy data and rapid response times, as in the case of drinking water (Lambrou et al., 2014). As of February 13, 2023, there were 26 active Manitoba boil water advisories for public water systems (PWSs) in the Winnipeg River basin, including 12 short-term, six medium-term, and eight long-term advisories, with the longest advisory ongoing since April 5, 2004 (Government of Manitoba, 2022, 2023). Additionally, many of the PWSs in the basin did not comply with provincial standards for turbidity (0.1 to 1.0 NTU) (Manitoba Water Stewardship & Manitoba Health, 2011), protozoa (Giardia and Cryptosporidium, 99.9% removal), and the disinfection products trihalomethanes (100 µg/L) and haloacetic acids (80 µg/L) (Manitoba Conservation and Climate, & Manitoba Health Seniors and Active Living, 2020), based on 2016–2018 provincial reporting (Manitoba Environment, Climate and Parks, 2020). Early notice of changes in water quality at an intake may enable water treatment operators to adapt their treatment methods and meet standards more consistently.

Real-time monitoring can also offer support for environmental alerts when conditions are not safe for aquatic life, recreation, or consumption. For example, water bodies that are at risk of contamination by a point source can be monitored for contaminants or for surrogate parameters that may accompany an effluent violation, prompting a treatment response or a swim ban (Carducci et al., 2020). There is a growing case for deploying sensor networks to monitor and manage the impacts of non-point-source pollution, such as nutrients leaching from watersheds with high agricultural activity (Davis et al., 2021; Zia et al., 2013). Such monitoring programs could help to inform environmental alerts or notices concerning swimming, ecosystem health, or wildlife consumption. In addition, new technologies enabling real-time data visualization and modelling or broad access to large volumes of scientific data have the potential to reach a broader audience and further scientific literacy and public interest in freshwater sciences (Smyth et al., 2018).

### 3.1 Deployment at Powerview: Pine Falls Drinking Water Treatment Facility, Manitoba

The town of Powerview-Pine Falls, Manitoba, is located on the northwest section of the Winnipeg River before it discharges into Lake Winnipeg. According to the 2016 census, the town supports a population of 1,316 (Statistics Canada, 2017). The drinking water for the town is sourced from the Winnipeg River and treated through the local treatment plant owned and operated by the town, with 672 m<sup>3</sup> of storage capacity and an estimated 100,000 m<sup>3</sup> treated per year (Manitoba Public Utilities Board, 2019; Town of Powerview-Pine Falls, 2021). The water is currently treated with a coagulation/flocculation process and sand filtration and is disinfected with chlorine. Additional ultraviolet treatment for Cryptosporidium and Giardia was installed in 2017. Water



is collected and analyzed regularly for bacteria (E. coli and total coliform; bi-weekly), chlorine levels (daily), turbidity (daily), trihalomethane (four times per year), and chemistry and metals (annually). All parameters were in compliance during 2020, except trihalomethane, which was slightly above the health standard of 0.10mg/L (Town of Powerview Pine Falls, 2021).

In 2021, Aquatic Life<sup>®</sup> and IISD-ELA installed a s::can spectro::lyser v2 connected to a cellular data network platform at the raw water intake of the water treatment facility (in the low-pressure flow line after pre-filtration). The sensor equipment was set to measure flow, pressure, pH, temperature, oxidation-reduction potential, and a spectral fingerprint to derive total organic carbon, dissolved organic carbon, turbidity, nitrate nitrogen, and total phosphorus. Raw water quality is measured daily by the treatment facility operators, but this new technology enables data recording every two minutes. This is significant since important factors like turbidity and total organic carbon can change dramatically in a matter of hours. Higher-frequency data may therefore improve facility operators' capacity to make rapid adjustments to treatment methods.

Aquatic Life<sup>®</sup> and IISD-ELA plan to work with the treatment plant operations team on this deployment to determine the benefits of high-frequency data for drinking water treatment. For instance, the chemical composition of the water after pre-filtration may help operators to adjust inflow and/or limit the production of trihalomethanes and other harmful by-products of chlorine-based disinfection (MWS & Manitoba Health, 2011). These disinfection by-products form when water with high organic matter is chlorinated (Manitoba Conservation and Climate & Manitoba Health Seniors and Active Living, 2020). Thus, real-time information on turbidity, total organic carbon, and other contaminants could allow operators to make more targeted adjustments to the water treatment process and optimize the safety of the treated water for consumers.

High-frequency, real-time data is also essential for developing and implementing alert systems. With the data resolution offered by networked sensors, water system engineers can achieve a higher level of precision when looking for possible relationships between inflow and outflow conditions (Hobson et al., 2010). Certain correlations or threshold contaminant levels may emerge from these analyses to inform operations procedures (Gheibi et al., 2022; Raciti et al., 2012). If important thresholds are identified, an alert system can be introduced to a facility's Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition system along with any associated response protocols, allowing operators to make data-driven decisions in real-time (Shadevish et al., 2008).

### 3.2 Deployment on Lake 227, IISD-ELA

In Canada and around the world, a major environmental concern is the excess release of nutrients into waterways, causing eutrophication and harmful algal blooms (Winter et al., 2011). Algal blooms can be toxic to humans, requiring advisories to be issued in recreational water bodies (Rashidi et al., 2021). They can also lead to ecological issues, such as fish kills and cascading trophic effects (Landsberg, 2002). In light of the range and severity of issues caused by these blooms, watershed managers will often model water conditions (e.g., using climate and hydrological data) to inform their environmental alert systems (Ahn et al., 2021). Real-time



monitoring may supplement or offer an alternative to such practices, either by detecting the formation of harmful algal blooms or by collecting data for bloom forecasting.

The IISD-ELA operates a long-term (1969–present) eutrophication experiment on Lake 227, a boreal lake in northwestern Ontario, Canada. Over its duration, the long-term experiment has evaluated the relative importance of carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus loads to the development of algal blooms<sup>3</sup> that occur seasonally each year. During the open water season (May through October) of 2020 and 2021, a sensor (AquaTroll 600) and a telemetry platform (AquaHive) were installed near the centre of the lake, measuring a suite of parameters at 1 metre below the water surface (Figure 1). Initially, the platform recorded and transmitted hourly water temperature, chlorophyll-a concentration, and phycocyanin (a pigment unique to cyanobacteria/blue-green algae) concentration. In 2022, IISD-ELA added sensors to record dissolved oxygen, depth, pH and oxidation-reduction potential.



Figure 1. AquaHive and sensor installation on Lake 227 at the IISD-ELA in 2020.

Source: IISD-ELA.

This system has allowed researchers to track the fluctuations of key parameters, including estimates of algal and cyanobacterial biomass (via pigment concentrations) in the lake in near real

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>https://www.iisd.org/ela/research/current-research/harmful-algal-blooms/</u>



time. For this experiment, the high-resolution data is particularly valuable for filling data gaps between scheduled bi-weekly site visits (Figure 2) that did not fully capture seasonal dynamics and led to challenges in detecting long-term trends. Further, the addition of high-intensity data on dissolved oxygen can allow for estimates of ecosystem productivity. Our research team is also interested in adding sensors to measure dissolved carbon dioxide concentration, which undergoes large diel variation and may limit algal growth rates and bloom development but is otherwise difficult to sample using conventional means.

High-frequency monitoring can also help to mitigate the spatial patchiness of phenomena like algal blooms (i.e., by averaging over a large sample size), and finer time resolutions can offer insights on a broader range of potential nutrient forcing processes, such as terrestrial–aquatic links during flood events (Marcé et al., 2016). These are only a few examples of the many possibilities offered by automated, higher-frequency data collection systems for environmental monitoring and freshwater science.



Figure 2. Chlorophyll-a concentration recorded at 1 metre from the water surface

Note: Recorded using a multiparameter sonde (In-Situ Aqua TROLL) connected to a networked AquaHive system and site visits on Lake 227 at the IISD-ELA in 2021. Near real-time sensor data was drift calibrated with the site visit data, and all values <0 were removed. Site visit chlorophyll-a analysis methods are described by Arar (1997).



# 4.0 Moving Monitoring Forward

Real-time monitoring has the potential to dramatically improve the effectiveness of many water quality monitoring programs. The examples outlined in this report demonstrate that robust real-time monitoring systems can open new avenues for water management and scientific inquiry by scaling-up data volume and resolution and by delivering nearly immediate information via alerts or modelling interfaces.

The value of real-time data for decision making has been well established in certain industries, such as water asset management, but is still being explored and tested in the context of watershed monitoring. Indeed, in the current landscape, real-time monitoring may not be the optimal solution for all water quality monitoring programs. There can be significant factors related to cost, field conditions, and technical knowledge that may lead a monitoring program to favour more conventional monitoring methods. This holds especially true if the need for higher data resolution, real-time data access, and remote sampling is minimal.

However, there is a way forward for accelerating the deployment of real-time monitoring technology. When it comes to monitoring water quality in watersheds, widespread adoption of real-time data will require networked instruments that are designed to adapt to the objectives of different monitoring groups at local or regional scales. It will also depend on the affordability of these technologies and their capacity for accommodating the material and technical resources available to different monitoring groups. Scaling this technology beyond its currently sporadic and siloed applications will require communication across monitoring groups as well, which can be facilitated by regional or national authorities through resources such as data repositories, institutional networks, targeted funding, and standards for publishing real-time data. In other words, a combination of adaptability to individual programs' needs along with a broadening of data infrastructure will help to ensure that the benefits of real-time monitoring are reliable and widely accessible in the future.

In the meantime, there is already a compelling case for decision-makers to implement real-time monitoring programs for their watersheds. Watershed organizations, provincial and municipal governments, and federal agencies may also benefit from promoting the use of real-time monitoring, as needed, to gather higher volumes of readily available and cross-compatible water quality data. While there may be challenges or limitations to implementation in some cases, the benefits of real-time monitoring are in many ways unparalleled by conventional methods, allowing watershed managers to make rapid and effective decisions to protect fresh water and build trust with communities.



# References

- Adu-Manu, K. S., Tapparello, C., Heinzelman, W., Katsriku, F. A., & Abdulai, J. D. (2017).
  Water quality monitoring using wireless sensor networks: Current trends and future research directions. ACM Transactions on Sensor Networks, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1145/3005719
- Ahn, J. M., Kim, J., Park, L. J., Jeon, J., Jong, J., Min, J. H., & Kang, T. (2021). Predicting Cyanobacterial Harmful Algal Blooms (CyanoHABs) in a regulated river using a revised EFDC model. *Water*, 13(4), 439. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/W13040439</u>
- Arar, E. J., (1997). (1997). Method 446.0: In vitro determination of Chlorophylls a,b, c1 + c2 and Pheopigments in marine and freshwater algae by visible spectrophotometry. United States Environmental Protection Agency. <u>https://cfpub.epa.gov/si/si\_public\_file\_download.cfm?p\_download\_id=525241&Lab=NERL</u>
- Bartram, J. (1996). Resources for a monitoring programme. In J. Bartram & S. Pedley (Eds.), Water quality monitoring: A practical guide to the design and implementation of freshwater quality studies and monitoring programmes (pp. 60–69). United Nations Environment Programme & World Health Organization. <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/0419217304</u>
- Behmel, S., Damour, M., Ludwig, R., & Rodriguez, M. J. (2016). Water quality monitoring strategies — A review and future perspectives. *Science of the Total Environment*, 571, 1312– 1329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.06.235</u>
- Benedetti, L., Langeveld, J., Comeau, A., Corominas, L., Daigger, G., Martin, C., Mikkelsen, P. S., Vezzaro, L., Weijers, S., & Vanrolleghem, P. A. (2013). Modelling and monitoring of integrated urban wastewater systems: Review on status and perspectives. *Water Science and Technology*, 68(6), 1203–1215. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/WST.2013.397</u>
- Borden, C., & Roy, D. (2015). *Water quality monitoring system design*. International Institute for Sustainable Development. <u>https://www.iisd.org/publications/report/water-quality-monitoring-system-design</u>
- Burke, D. G., & Allenby, J. (n.d.). Low cost water quality monitoring needs assessment. Chesapeake Conservancy. <u>https://www.chesapeakeconservancy.org/images/Low Cost Water Quality</u> <u>Monitoring Needs Assessment small1.pdf</u>
- Campanale, C., Massarelli, C., Losacco, D., Bisaccia, D., Triozzi, M., & Uricchio, V. F. (2021). The monitoring of pesticides in water matrices and the analytical criticalities: A review. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 144, article 116423. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.</u> <u>TRAC.2021.116423</u>
- Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment. (2015). Guidance manual for optimizing water quality monitoring program design (PN 1543). <u>https://communities.unep.org/download/</u> attachments/38306024/Canada Guidance%20Manual%20for%20Optimizing%20Water%20 Quality%20Monitoring%20Program%20Design 1.0 e.pdf?api=v2



- Carducci, A., Federigi, I., Cioni, L., Landucci, A., Donzelli, G., Iannelli, R., Pretti, C., Tardelli, F., Casu, V., & Verani, M. (2020). Approach to a water safety plan for recreational waters: Disinfection of a drainage pumping station as an unconventional point source of fecal contamination. *H*<sub>2</sub>Open Journal, 3(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/H2OJ.2020.017</u>
- Chen, Q., Wu, W., Blanckaert, K., Ma, J., & Huang, G. (2012). Optimization of water quality monitoring network in a large river by combining measurements, a numerical model and matter-element analyses. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 110, 116–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.05.024</u>
- Clark, J. S., Carpenter, S. R., Barber, M., Collins, S., Dobson, A., Foley, J. A., Lodge, D. M., Pascual, M., Pielke R., J., Pizer, W., Pringle, C., Reid, W. v., Rose, K. A., Sala, O., Schlesinger, W. H., Wall, D. H., & Wear, D. (2001). Ecological forecasts: An emerging imperative. *Science*, 293(5530), 657–660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.293.5530.657</u>
- Cyr-Gagnon, J., & Rodriguez, M. J. (2021). Optimizing data management for municipal source water protection. *Land Use Policy*, 100, article 103788. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.</u> LANDUSEPOL.2018.12.035
- Davis, A. M., Webster, A. J., Fitch, P., Fielke, S., Taylor, B. M., Morris, S., & Thorburn, P. J. (2021). The changing face of science communication, technology, extension and improved decision-making at the farm-water quality interface. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 169, article 112534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2021.112534</u>
- Environment and Climate Change. (n.d.). *Real Time Water Quality Monitoring Program*. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. <u>https://www.gov.nl.ca/ecc/waterres/rti/rtwq/</u>
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2021a). Water quality in Canadian rivers: Canadian environmental sustainability indicators. <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/eccc/documents/pdf/</u> cesindicators/water-quality/2021/water-quality-canadian-rivers-en-2021.pdf
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2021b). *Toward the creation of a Canada water agency:* Stakeholder and public engagement – What we heard. <u>https://publications.gc.ca/collections/</u> <u>collection 2021/eccc/En4-433-2021-eng.pdf</u>

Fisheries Act, R.S.C 1985, c. F-14. https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/f-14/

- Gheibi, M., Eftekhari, M., Akrami, M., Emrani, N., Hajiaghaei-Keshteli, M., Fathollahi-Fard, A. M., & Yazdani, M. (2022). A sustainable decision support system for drinking water systems: Resiliency improvement against cyanide contamination. *Infrastructures*, 7(7), 88. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/INFRASTRUCTURES7070088</u>
- Glasgow, H. B., Burkholder, J. A. M., Reed, R. E., Lewitus, A. J., & Kleinman, J. E. (2004). Realtime remote monitoring of water quality: A review of current applications, and advancements in sensor, telemetry, and computing technologies. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 300(1–2), 409–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2004.02.022</u>



- Government of Manitoba. (2022). Drinking water advisories in Manitoba. <u>https://www.gov.mb.ca/sd/water/drinking-water/advisory/map.html</u>
- Government of Manitoba. (2023). *Provincial water advisories Public water systems*. <u>https://www.gov.mb.ca/sd/waterstewardship/odw/public-info/boil-water/advisory\_public.pdf</u>
- Gunn, G., & Stanley, M. (2018). Using technology to solve today's water challenges. <u>https://www.iisd.</u> org/publications/report/using-technology-solve-todays-water-challenges
- Hobson, P., Fabris, R., Develter, E., Linden, L. G., Burch, M. D., & Brookes, J. D. (2010).
   Reservoir inflow monitoring for improved management of treated water quality A South Australian experience. *Water Resources Management*, 24(14), 4161–4174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S11269-010-9651-7</u>
- Knick International. (n.d.). *Monitoring raw water inlet for drinking water treatment*. <u>https://www.knick-international.com/en/blog/2019/monitoring-raw-water-inlet/</u>
- Lambrou, T. P., Anastasiou, C. C., Panayiotou, C. G., & Polycarpou, M. M. (2014). A low-cost sensor network for real-time monitoring and contamination detection in drinking water distribution systems. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 14(8), 2765–2772. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ JSEN.2014.2316414</u>
- Landsberg, J. H. (2002). The effects of harmful algal blooms on aquatic organisms. *Reviews in Fisheries Science*, 10(2), 113–390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20026491051695</u>
- Lindenmayer, D. B., Likens, G. E., Haywood, A., & Miezis, L. (2011). Adaptive monitoring in the real world: Proof of concept. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26(12), 641–646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2011.08.002</u>
- Mäkelä, a., Meybeck, M., (1996). Designing a monitoring programme. In J. Bartram & S. Pedley (Eds.), Water quality monitoring: A practical guide to the design and implementation of freshwater quality studies and monitoring programmes (pp. 37–59). United Nations Environment Programme and the World Health Organization. <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/0419217304</u>
- Manitoba Conservation and Climate, & Manitoba Health, Seniors and Active Living. (2020). Disinfection by-products (THMs and HAAs) in Manitoba water supplies. <u>https://www.gov.mb.ca/sd/pubs/water/drinking\_water/factsheet\_disinfection\_thm\_haas.pdf</u>
- Manitoba Public Utilities Board. (2019). Town of Powerview-Pine Falls Powerview-Pine Falls Water and Wastewater Utility surcharge to recover debenture servicing costs – Effective December 1, 2019. http://www.pubmanitoba.ca/v1/proceedings-decisions/orders/pubs/2019-orders/165-19.pdf
- Manitoba Water Stewardship, & Manitoba Health. (2011). *Turbidity in Manitoba water supplies*. https://www.gov.mb.ca/sd/////pubs/water/drinking\_water/factsheet\_turbidity.pdf
- Manitoba Water Stewardship. (2010a). Whitemud River integrated watershed management plan: Public consultation summary. <u>https://www.gov.mb.ca/sd/water/watershed/iwmp/whitemud/</u> <u>documentation/public\_meeting\_summary.pdf</u>



- Manitoba Water Stewardship. (2010b). Whitemud River Watershed integrated watershed management plan–Water quality report. <u>https://www.gov.mb.ca/sd/water/watershed/iwmp/whitemud/</u> <u>documentation/water\_quality\_whitemudiwmp.pdf</u>
- Manitoba Water Stewardship. (2014). *Planning resource guide: Planning for the protection of riparian areas.* <u>www.manitoba.ca/ia/plups</u>
- Manitoba Environment, Climate and Parks. (2020). Public water system compliance with provincial physical, chemical, and microbial standards. <u>https://www.gov.mb.ca/sd/pubs/water/drinking\_water/year\_rnd\_pws.pdf</u>
- Marcé, R., George, G., Buscarinu, P., et al. (2016). Automatic high frequency monitoring for improved lake and reservoir management. *Environmental and Science Technology*, 50, 10780– 10794. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b01604</u>
- McCandless, M. (2017). Three major threats to Canada's fresh water, and what IISD-ELA is doing to overcome them. IISD Experimental Lakes Area. <u>https://www.iisd.org/ela/blog/commentary/</u> <u>three-major-threats-canadas-fresh-water-iisd-ela-overcome/</u>
- McCarty, G. W., McConnell, L. L., Hapeman, C. J., Sadeghi, A., Graff, C., Hively, W. D., Lang, M. W., Fisher, T. R., Jordan, T., Rice, C. P., Codling, E. E., Whitall, D., Lynn, A., Keppler, J., & Fogel, M. L. (2008, November). Water quality and conservation practice effects in the Choptank River watershed. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 63(6), 461–474. <u>https://doi.org/10.2489/jswc.63.6.461</u>
- Mosley, L. M., & Hipsey, M. (2011). Use of water quality models for adaptive monitoring and management of aquatic systems during periods of rapid environmental change. In A. C. Ortiz & N. B. Griffin (Eds.), *Pollution monitoring* (pp. 9–114). Nova Science Publishers.
- Paquette, C., Hemphill, L., Merante, A., & Hendriks, E. (2020). WWF-Canada's 2020 watershed reports: A national reassessment of Canada's freshwater. WWF Canada. <u>https://wwf.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2020/10/WWF-Watershed-Report-2020-FINAL-WEB.pdf</u>
- Puzyreva, M., Gunn, G., & Roy, D. (2021). Lower Winnipeg River Basin Discussion Sheet Series. Sheet # 10: Industries and economic activity. <u>https://www.iisd.org/publications/winnipeg-river-basin-sheet-10-industries-economic-activity</u>
- Raciti, M., Cucurull, J., & Nadjm-Tehrani, S. (2012). Anomaly detection in water management systems. Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Including Subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics), 7130, 98–119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-28920-0\_6</u>
- Rashidi H., Baulch, H., Bharadwaj L., & Bradford, L. (2021). Monitoring, managing, and communicating risk of harmful algal blooms (HABs) in recreational resources across Canada. *Environmental Health Insights*, 15, 1–14. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/ pdf/10.1177/11786302211014401</u>



- Rode, M., Wade, A. J., Cohen, M. J., Hensley, R. T., Bowes, M. J., Kirchner, J. W., Arhonditsis, G. B., Jordan, P., Kronvang, B., Halliday, S. J., Skeffington, R. A., Rozemeijer, J. C., Aubert, A. H., Rinke, K., & Jomaa, S. (2016). Sensors in the stream: The high-frequency wave of the present. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50(19), 10297–10307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/</u> ACS.EST.6B02155
- Salam, A. (2020). Internet of Things for sustainability: Perspectives in privacy, cybersecurity, and future trends. In *Internet of Things for Sustainable Community Development* (pp. 299–327). Springer Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35291-2\_10</u>
- Shadevish, Y., Montemayor, A., Moreno, T., Lacher, R., Glisch, D., Isleb, J., & Nelson, M. (2008). Contamination warning systems in action. *Journal – American Water Works Association*, 100(3), 36–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/J.1551-8833.2008.TB09575.X</u>
- SOLitude Lake Management. (n.d.). *Fisheries management:Water quality woes*. <u>https://www.solitudelakemanagement.com/blog/fisheries-management-water-quality-woes/</u>
- Smyth, R. L., Caruso, A., Borre, L., Zhu, G., Zhu, M., Hetherington, A. L., Jennings, E., Klug, J. L., Piccolo, M. C., Rusak, J. A., Weathers, K. C., & Wigdahl-Perry, C. (2018). High-frequency lake data benefit society through broader engagement with stakeholders: A synthesis of GLEON data use survey and member experiences. *Inland Waters*, 6(4), 555–564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/IW-6.4.894</u>
- Staben, N., Nahrstedt, A., & Merkel, W. (2015). Securing safe drinking water supply under climate change conditions. *Water Science and Technology:Water Supply*, 15(6), 1334–1342. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/WS.2015.099</u>
- Stanley, M., Gunn, G., & Roy, D. (2021). Lower Winnipeg River Basin Discussion Sheet Series. Sheet # 4 Water quality and nutrient loading. <u>https://www.iisd.org/system/files/2021-06/winnipeg-river-basin-sheet-4-water-quality-nutrient-loading.pdf</u>
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (2005). Alberta Environment water for life: Aquatic ecosystems: Review of issues and monitoring techniques. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.114775
- Statistics Canada. (2017). Powerview-Pine Falls. [Census subdivision], Manitoba and Manitoba [Province] census profile. 2016 census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no, 98-316-X2016001. <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E</u>
- Tango, P. (2019, March 25–29). Adaptive water quality monitoring and evolving assessments enhance decision Support for watershed and bay recovery in the Chesapeake Bay Program Partnership [Paper presentation]. 11<sup>th</sup> National Water Quality Monitoring Council Conference, Denver, CO, United States. <u>https://acwi.gov/monitoring/conference/2019/presentations/J5\_Tango\_Secure.pdf</u>
- Town of Powerview Pine Falls. (2021). Town of Powerview-Pine Falls annual water report for 2020. https://www.powerview-pinefalls.com/docs/2020.pdf



- Wigmosta, M. S., & Burges, S. J. (1997). An adaptive modeling and monitoring approach to describe the hydrologic behavior of small catchments. *Journal of Hydrology*, 202(1–4), 48–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(97)00057-7</u>
- Winter, J. G., DeSellas, A. M., Fletcher, R., Heintsch, L., Morley, A., Nakamoto, L., & Utsumi, K. (2011). Algal blooms in Ontario, Canada: Increases in reports since 1994. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, 27(2), 107–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07438141.2011.557765</u>
- Zia, H., Harris, N. R., Merrett, G. V., Rivers, M., & Coles, N. (n.d.). The impact of agricultural activities on water quality: A case for collaborative catchment-scale management using integrated wireless sensor networks. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 96, 126–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2013.05.001</u>

©2023 The International Institute for Sustainable Development Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

#### **Head Office**

111 Lombard Avenue, Suite 325 Winnipeg, Manitoba Canada R3B 0T4 **Tel:** +1 (204) 958-7700 **Website:** www.iisd.org **Twitter:** @IISD\_news



